
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

Jose Aleman )
6415 Taylor Road )
Riverdale, MD 20737 )
(Prince Georges County) )

)
Cesar Basilis )
13219 Country Ridge Drive )
Germantown, MD 20874 )
(Montgomery County) ) Civil Action No. 1:04CV04022-WDQ

)
James Blasic )
8352 Montgomery Run Road )
Unit H )
Ellicott City, MD 21043 )
(Howard County) )

)
Carlos Borrayo )
5006 Niagra Road )
College Park, MD 20740 )
(Prince Georges County) )

)
Mario Rodas )
804 Dinwiddie Drive )
Fredericksburg, VA 22407 )

)
Plaintiffs, )
v. )

)
Chugach Support Services, Inc. )
NIH, Trailor 41P Medlar Drive )
Lot 41 Msc 2834 )
Bethesda, Maryland 20892 )
(Montgomery County) )

) 
)

Chugach Alaska Corporation )
560 E. 34th Ave., Suite 300 )
Anchorage, Alaska 99503-4196 )

)
and )

)
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Mid-Atlantic Regional Council of )
Carpenters )
5701 Silver Hill Road )
Forrestville, Maryland 20747 )
(Prince Georges County) )

)
Defendants. )
______________________________ )

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, Jose Aleman, Cesar Basilis, James Blasic, Carlos Borrayo, and Mario

Rodas, by and through their attorneys, allege for their Second Amended Complaint as

follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiffs assert this action against Chugach Support Services, Inc.

(“Chugach Support”), Chugach Alaska Corporation (“Chugach Alaska”), and Mid-Atlantic

Regional Council  o f Carpenters (“MARCC”) (hereinafter referred to collectively as

“Defendants”) for legal relief to redress employment discrimination and harassment on

the basis of national origin, color, and race, as well as retaliation for opposing this illegal

conduct. The suit is brought to secure the protection of, and to redress the deprivation of

rights secured by, the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, as amended; Title VII

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, codified at 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq., as amended; and

Chapter 27 of the Montgomery County Code.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(a)(4),
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1367, 2201, and 2202, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, the Civil Rights Act of 1866, (hereinafter “§

1981”), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. §2000e,

et seq., (hereinafter “Title VII”) and Maryland Code Article 49B, § 42.

3. Venue is proper in the State of Maryland because the Defendants conduct

business in Maryland; determine and implement, in Maryland, the policies, practices, and

procedures which have affected the Plaintiffs; engage in and/or ratify, in Maryland, the

i l legal  conduct which has adversely affected the Plaintiffs; and engage in corporate

activities, such as the discriminatory application of employment policies, practices, and

procedures, which were carried out in Maryland.

III. PARTIES

A. PLAINTIFFS

4. Plaintiff Jose Aleman is a Hispanic resident of Maryland and his national

origin is El Salvador. Aleman worked for the Chugach Defendants in their Maryland

location as a carpenter from March 10, 2003 until his termination on September 9, 2003.

Aleman was a member of the MARCC from August 15, 2003, through his termination.

5. Plaintiff Cesar Basilis is a Hispanic res ident of Maryland and his national

origin is Dominican Republic. Basilis worked for the Chugach Defendants in the i r

Maryland location as a carpenter from February 11, 2003 until his termination on October

17, 2003. Bas i l is  was  a member of the MARCC from April 15, 2003, through his

termination.
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6. Plaintiff James Blasic is a Caucasian resident of Maryland. Blasic worked

for the Chugach Defendants in  the i r Maryland location as a Finance Manager from

December 2, 2002 until his termination on October 22, 2003.

7. Plaintiff Carlos Borrayo is a Hispanic resident of Maryland and his national

origin is Guatemala. Borrayo worked for the Chugach Defendants in their Maryland

location as a painter from October 2002 until his termination on September 30, 2003.

8. Plaintiff Mario Rodas is a Hispanic resident of Virginia and his national

origin is Guatemala. Rodas worked for the Chugach Defendants in their Maryland

location as a painter from March 2003 until his termination on September 30, 2003.

B. DEFENDANTS

9. Defendant Chugach Alaska Corporation is a corporation doing business

in the State of Maryland. Chugach Alaska employs approximately 5,000 employees

worldwide.  Chugach Alaska targets areas of business interests which include base

operating services, educational services, construction services, environmental services,

information technology, telecommunications, and full-service employment services.

From Chugach Alaska’s corporate offices in Anchorage, Alaska, the company maintained

actual and/or constructive control over al l  o f its operations at its various business

divisions including the employment policies, practices, and procedures to be utilized and

adhered to at all of its facilities , including Defendants’ Chugach Support Services

location in Bethesda, Maryland.

10. Defendant Chugach Support Services, Inc. is a subsidiary of Chugach
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Alaska with its principal place of business in the State of Maryland. Chugach Support

specializes in base operations, maintenance, and logistics. All of the acts set forth in this

Complaint were authorized, ordered, implemented, and/or ratified by Chugach Support’s

officers, agents, employees, and/or representatives while actively engaged in the

management of Chugach Support’s business.

11. Defendant Mid-Atlantic Regional Council of Carpenters is a labor

organization representing member employees, including plaintiffs Aleman and Basilis,

in the State of Maryland. Al l  o f the acts set forth in this Complaint were authorized,

ordered, implemented, and/or ratified by MARCC officers, agents, employees, and/or

representatives while actively engaged in the representation of plaintiffs Aleman and

Basilis in direct relation to their employers and employment.

IV. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO SUIT UNDER TITLE VII AND THE MONTGOMERY
COUNTY CODE

12. The Plaintiffs have fulfilled all conditions precedent to the institution of this

action against the Chugach defendants under Title VII and Chapter 27 of the Montgomery

County Code. Specifically, each Plaintiff has filed timely charges of discrimination with

the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and has filed suit more than 45 days

after filing the charge and within 90 days of receiving their right-to-sue letters from the

EEOC.
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V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Plaintiffs Aleman, Basilis, Borrayo, and Rodas were subjected to
employment discrimination based upon their national origin, race, and/or
color.

13. The Chugach Defendants discriminated against Plaintiffs Aleman, Basilis,

Borrayo, and Rodas (“Hispanic Plaintiffs”) based on national origin, race, and/or color in

their decision to terminate their employment, through harassm ent which occurred at

work, discriminatory terms and conditions of employment, and unequal compensation

policies, practices, and/or procedures. The discrimination included disparate treatment

as well as practices that resulted in a disparate impact on the Hispanic Plaintiffs and

employees.

14. The defendants’ policies, procedures and/or practices, including its

English only requirements, have also had a disparate impact on the Hispanic

employees. Such procedures are not valid, job related, or justified by business necessity.

There are practices and procedures available to Defendants which have less disparate

impact on Hispanic employees and equal or greater validity and job relatedness, but

Defendants have refused to consider or to use such procedures.

15. Defendant MARCC discriminated against Plaintiffs Aleman and Basilis 

based on national origin, race, and/or color in its failure and/or refus al  to  provide

plaintiff’s with equal representation in direct relation to these plaintiffs ’  employment,

harassm ent, and termination, as well as via discriminatory terms and conditions,

practices, and/or procedures. The dis crim ination included disparate treatment of
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plaintiffs Aleman and Basilis which directly affected the terms, conditions and benefits

of their employment, including the MARCC’s policy and practice of failing and/or refusing

to provide its members with a Spanish translation of its Collective Bargaining Agreement

(“CBA”) with the Chugach defendants and/or to offer services of a translator regarding the

terms of the CBA and grievance procedures thereunder.

16. Plaintiff Jose Aleman is qualified for his job as a carpenter and performed

his job duties in a satisfactory manner throughout his employment with Defendants. On

September 9, 2003, Aleman was terminated from his job and told by a manager to leave

the campus immediately and to turn in his badge and parking pass. MARCC failed to

provide Aleman with any guidance on how to purs ue a grievance related to his

termination. MARCC also failed to provide Aleman with a Spanish translation (written or

oral) of the CBA or grievance procedure thereunder such that he was unable to pursue

same. Aleman is aware of several incidents of discriminatory conduct toward Hispanic

employees  by the Chugach Defendants, including but not limited to: (1) one of

Defendants’ managers stated that he did not want to employ foreigners; (2) Defendants

terminated Plaintiff Rodas’ employment because he spoke Spanish at work and in front

of a customer; (3) a manager made derogatory statements about Hispanic employees,

including “why do we have to translate to Hispanics, they have to learn English”; another

comment stated that Hispanics knew nothing; (4) Defendants’ managers did not permit

its employees to speak Spanish; (5) the Defendants required Hispanic employees to eat

their meals in a separate area from which non-Hispanic employees ate their meals; (6)
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the Hispanic Plaintiffs were replaced with Caucasian employees; and (7) Hispanic

employees were compensated unequally compared to Caucasian employees. The

circumstances surrounding Aleman’s termination establish that this adverse

employm ent action was based upon his race, national origin, and/or color and that

similarly situated non-Hispanic employees were treated more favorably.

17. Plaintiff Cesar Basilis is qualified for his job as a carpenter and performed

his job duties in a satisfactory manner throughout his employment with Defendants. Prior

to his termination on October 17, 2003, Basilis never received any written warning

regarding job performance from Defendants. Basilis sought assistance from the MARCC

regarding his termination and to ld  them it was discrimination. MARCC refused to

represent Basilis, to assis t him in grieving his termination or providing him with any

guidance on how to pursue such a grievance. MARCC failed to provide Basilis with a

Spanish translation (written or oral) of the CBA or grievance procedure thereunder such

that he was unable to purs ue same. Basilis is aware of several incidents of

discriminatory conduct by the Chugach Defendants, including but not limited to: (1) one

of Defendants’ managers stated that he did not want to employ foreigners ; (2)

Defendants terminated Plaintiff Rodas’ employment because he spoke Spanish at work

and in front of a customer; (3) a manager made derogatory statements about Hispanic

employees “why do we have to translate to Hispanics, they have to learn English”; other

pejorative statements included references to “f***ing Hispanics ” and that Hispanics

knew nothing; (4) Defendants’ managers did not permit its employees to speak Spanish;
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(5) the Hispanic Plaintiffs were replaced with Caucasian employees; (6) Hispanic

employees were required to perform more difficult jobs than Caucasian employees ; and

(7) His panic employees were compensated unequally compared to Caucasian

employees. The circumstances surrounding Basilis’ termination establish that this

adverse employment action was based upon his race, national origin, and/or color and

that similarly situated non-Hispanic employees were treated more favorably.

18. Plaintiff Carlos Borrayo is qualified for his job as a painter and performed

his job duties in a satisfactory manner throughout his employment with the Chugach

Defendants. On September 30, 2003, Defendants terminated Borrayo’s employment

allegedly because complaints had been made about his work performance. Borrayo,

however, was never informed of any such complaints and performed his  work in  a

satisfactory manner at all times. Borrayo is aware of several incidents of discriminatory

conduct by Defendants, including but not limited to: (1) one of Defendants’ managers

stated that he did not want to employ foreigners ; (2) Defendants terminated Plaintiff

Rodas’ employment because he spoke Spanish at work and in front of a customer; (3)

a manager made derogatory statements about Hispanic employees, including “why do

we have to translate to Hispanics, they have to learn English”; other comments stated

that Hispanics knew nothing or could not do anything; (4) Defendants’ managers did not

permit its employees to speak Spanis h; (5) the Hispanic Plaintiffs were replaced with

Caucasian employees; and (6) Hispanic employees were compensated unequally

compared to Caucasian employees. The circumstances surrounding Borrayo’s
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termination establish that this adverse employment action was based upon his race,

national origin, and/or color and that similarly situated non-Hispanic employees were

treated more favorably.

19. Plaintiff Mario Rodas is qualified for his job as a painter and performed his

job duties in a satisfactory manner throughout h is employment with the Chugach

Defendants. On September 30, 2003, Defendants terminated Rodas’ employment

because he spoke Spanish at work and in front of a customer. Rodas had been informed

by one of Defendants’ managers that he was not permitted to speak Spanish at work and

Rodas is aware that one of Defendants’ managers stated that he did not want to employ

foreigners. Further, one of Defendants’ employees announced that Hispanic and non-

Hispanic employees were to maintain separate meal areas and during a welcoming

meal for clients, Hispanic employees had to eat in another area and help cook the food

for the client’s meal while the non-Hispanic employees were allowed to join the

welcoming meal. Additional discriminatory conduct of which Rodas is aware includes:

(1) a manager made derogatory statements about Hispanic employees, including “why

do we have to translate to Hispanics , they have to learn English”; another comment

stated that His panics knew nothing; (2) the Hispanic Plaintiffs were replaced with

Caucasian employees; and (3) Hispanic employees were compensated unequally

compared to Caucasian employees. The circumstances surrounding Rodas’ termination

establish that this adverse employment action was based upon his race, national origin,

and/or color and that similarly s ituated non-Hispanic employees were treated more
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favorably.

B. DEFENDANTS RETALIATED AGAINST PLAINTIFF BLASIC FOR HIS
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ ILLEGAL DISCRIMINATION

20. Plaintiff James Blasic is qualified for his job as a Finance Manager and

performed his job duties in a s atisfactory manner throughout his employment with the

Chugach Defendants. On October 15, 2003, Blasic sent an electronic-mai l to

Defendants’ corporate office and spoke with the Defendants’ Division Manager regarding

the lay-offs of the four Hispanic Plaintiffs and derogatory statements made toward non-

Caucasian employees. Defendants told Blasic to keep these problems “in  hous e.”

Defendants took no rem edial action in response to Blasic’s complaint about this

discriminatory conduct; instead, Defendants terminated Blasic’s employment on October

22, 2003, one week after Blasic sent the electronic-mail. Defendants’ alleged basis for

terminating Blasic was insubordination at a meeting and not being “a team player.” The

actual basis for Blasic’s termination was his opposition to Defendants’ discriminatory

conduct. Other incidents of discrimination of which Blasic is aware includes a Project

Manager informing Blasic that he did not want to employ foreigners because they usually

did not speak English well.

VI. JOINDER

21. In accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 20, the claims of the Plaintiffs are subject

to joinder because they arise out of the same series of transactions or occurrences and

involve common questions of law or fact. For example, the Plaintiffs all worked in the
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Defendants’ same Bethesda, Maryland, location and had many of the same supervisors,

each of the Plainti ffs’ employment was terminated within close temporal proximity to

each other, and Plaintiff Blasic’s retaliation claims are directly related to the Hispanic

Plaintiffs’ discrimination claims. Plaintiff Basilis’ and Aleman’s claims agains t the

MARCC are directly related to their employment re la tionship with the Chugach

defendants and the actions leading to and culminating in their terminations, as well as

these plaintiffs’ attempts to seek redress for same.

VII. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT ONE
(The Hispanic Plaintiffs’ claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981,

the Civil Rights Act of 1866, (§ 1981))

22. The Hispanic Plaintiffs restate and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 21 as

though set forth here in full.

23. The Chugach Defendants have discriminated against the Hispanic 

Plaintiffs through disparate treatment and by denying them the s am e rights as are

enjoyed by white citizens in the making, performance, modification, and termination of

their employment relations hip with Defendants and to the enjoyment of all benefits,

privileges, terms, and conditions of that relationship, in violation of § 1981.

24. Defendant MARCC discriminated against Plaintiffs Aleman and Basilis 

based on national  orig in, race, and/or color in its failure and/or refusal to provide

plaintiff’s with  equal representation in direct relation to these plaintiffs’ employment,

harassment, and termination, as well as  via  discriminatory terms and conditions,
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practices, and/or procedures. The discrimination included disparate treatment o f

plaintiffs Aleman and Basilis which directly affected the terms, conditions and benefits

of their employment, including the MARCC’s policy and practice of failing and/or refusing

to provide its members with a Spanish translation of its Collective Bargaining Agreement

(“CBA”) with the Chugach defendants and/or to offer services of a translator regarding the

terms of the CBA and grievance procedures thereunder.

25. Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of the Hispanic Plaintiffs.

26. By reason of Defendants’ discrimination, the Hispanic Plaintiffs have

suffered harm and are enti tled to all legal and equitable remedies available under

§1981, including, but not limited to, back pay, front pay, reinstatement, restoration of

benefits and seniority, and compensatory and punitive damages.

COUNT TWO
(The Hispanic Plaintiffs’ claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,

as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq. (Title VII))

27. The Hispanic Plaintiffs restate and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 26 as

though set forth here in full.

28. The Chugach Defendants have discriminated against the Hispanic

Plaintiffs with respect to terms and conditions of their employment, including but not

limited to, compensation, harassment, hostile work environm ent, and termination,

because of their color, race, and/or national origin in violation of Title VII.

29. The Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and
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conducted in callous disregard of the rights of the Hispanic Plaintiffs.

30. The Defendants’ policies and practices have resulted in the disparate

treatment of the Hispanic Plaintiffs.

31. The Chugach Defendants’ policies, procedures and/or practices, including

its English-only requirement, have also had a disparate impact on the Hispanic

employees.  Such procedures are not valid, job related, or justified by business

necessity. There are practices and procedures available to Defendants which have less

disparate impact on the Hispanic Plaintiffs  and equal or greater validity and job

relatedness, but Defendants have refused to consider or to use such procedures.

32. By reason of the Defendants’ discrimination, the Hispanic Plaintiffs have

suffered harm and are entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under Title

VII, including, but not limited to, back pay, front pay, reinstatement, restoration of benefits

and seniority, and compensatory and punitive damages.

COUNT THREE
(The Hispanic Plaintiffs’ claims under Chapter 27

of the Montgomery County Code)

33. The Hispanic Plaintiffs restate and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 32 as

though set forth here in full.

34. The Chugach Defendants have discriminated against the Hispanic

Plaintiffs with respect to terms and conditions of their employment, including but not

limited to , compensation, harassment, hostile work environment, and termination,

because of their color, race, and/or national origin in violation of Chapter 27, Section 27-
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19 of the Montgomery County Code. The Hispanic Plaintiffs are entitled to assert a claim

under Chapter 27 of the Montgomery County Code pursuant to Maryland Code Article

49B, § 42.

35. The Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of the Hispanic Plaintiffs.

36. The Defendants’ policies and practices have resulted in the disparate

treatment of the Hispanic Plaintiffs.

37. The Chugach Defendants’ policies, procedures and/or practices, including

its Engl is h-only requirement, have also had a disparate impact on the Hispanic

employees. Such procedures are not valid, job related, or justified by business necessity.

There are practices and procedures available to Defendants which have less disparate

impact on the Hispanic Plaintiffs and equal or greater validity and job relatedness, but

Defendants have refused to consider or to use such procedures.

38. By reason of the Defendants’ discrimination, the Hispanic Plaintiffs have

suffered harm  and are entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under

Chapter 27 of the Montgomery County Code, including, but not limited to, back pay, front

pay, reinstatement, restoration of benefits and seniority, and compensatory and punitive

damages (including damages for humiliation and embarrassment).

COUNT FOUR
(Plaintiff Blasic’s retaliation claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1981,

the Civil Rights Act of 1866, (§ 1981))

39. Plaintiff Blasic restates and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 38 as though
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set forth here in full.

40. The Chugach Defendants have retaliated against Plaintiff Blasic for his

statutorily protected opposition to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct in violation of §

1981.

41. The Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of Plaintiff Blasic.

42. The Defendants’ retaliation resulted in an adverse employment action

against Plaintiff Blasic. A causal link exists between Plaintiff Blasic’s opposition to

Defendants’ discriminatory conduct and the adverse employment action.

43. By reason of the Defendants’ discrimination, Plaintiff Blasic has suffered

harm and is entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under Section 1981,

including, but not limited to, back pay, front pay, reinstatement, restoration of benefits and

seniority, and compensatory and punitive damages.

COUNT FIVE
(Plaintiff Blasic’s retaliation claim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,

as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq. (Title VII))

44. Plaintiff Blasic restates and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 43 as though

set forth here in full.

45. The Chugach Defendants have retaliated against Plaintiff Blasic for his

statutorily protected opposition to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct in violation of Title

VII.

46. The Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and
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conducted in callous disregard of the rights of Plaintiff Blasic.

47. The Defendants’ retaliation resulted in an adverse employment action

against Plaintiff Blasic. A causal link exists between Plaintiff Blasic’s opposition to

Defendants discriminatory conduct and the adverse employment action.

48. By reason of the Defendants’ discrimination, Plaintiff Blasic has suffered

harm and is entitled to all legal and equitable remedies avai lab le under Title VII,

including, but not limited to, back pay, front pay, reinstatement, restoration of benefits and

seniority, and compensatory and punitive damages.

COUNT SIX
(Plaintiff Blasic’s retaliation claim under Chapter 27

of the Montgomery County Code, § 27-19(c))

49. Plaintiff Blasic restates and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 48 as though

set forth here in full.

50. The Chugach Defendants have retaliated against Plaintiff Blasic for his

statutorily protected opposition to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, which violates

Chapter 27, Section 27-19(c) of the Montgomery County Code. Plaintiff Blasic is entitled

to assert a claim under Chapter 27 of the Montgomery County Code pursuant to Maryland

Code Article 49B, § 42.

51. The Defendants’ conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, and

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of Plaintiff Blasic.

52. The Defendants’ retaliation resulted in an adverse employment action

against Plaintiff Blasic. A causal link exists between Plaintiff Blasic’s opposition to
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Defendants’ discriminatory conduct and the adverse employment action.

53. By reason of the Defendants’ discrimination, Plaintiff Blasic has suffered

harm and is entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under Chapter 27 of

the Montgom ery County Code, including, but not limited to, back pay, front pay,

reinstatement, restoration of benefits and seniority, and compensatory and punitive

damages (including damages for embarrassment and humiliation).

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, the Plaintiffs request the following relief:

A. Issue a declaratory judgment that the employment policies, practices,

procedures, conditions, and customs of the Defendants violate the rights

of the Plaintiffs as secured by § 1981, Title VII, and Chapter 27 of the

Montgomery County Code;

B. Grant Plaintiffs a permanent injunction enjoining the Defendants, their

agents, successors, and employees from continuing to violate § 1981,Title

VII, and the Montgomery County Code;

C. An award of back pay, front pay, reinstatement, and restoration of benefits

and seniority;

D. Any other appropriate equitable relief to the Plaintiffs;

E. An award of compensatory and punitive damages, including damages for

humiliation and embarrassment, to Plaintiffs in an amount to be

determined at trial;
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F. An award of litigation costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’

fees, to the Plaintiffs;

G. Pre-judgment interest; and

H. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

IX. JURY TRIAL DEMAND

The Plaintiffs demand trial by jury of all issues triable of right to a jury.

Respectfully submitted via electronic filing this 17th day of May, 2005.

                            /s/                                     
Eric K. Bachman (Md. Fed. Bar No. 16325)
WIGGINS, CHILDS, QUINN & PANTAZIS, LLC
7 Dupont Circle, N.W.
Suite 200
Washington, D.C. 20036
202-467-4123
202-467-4489 (facsimile)
ebachman@wcqp.com

Ann C. Robertson
WIGGINS, CHILDS, QUINN & PANTAZIS, LLC
301 19TH Street North
Birmingham, Alabama 35203
205-328-0640
205-254-1500 (facsimile)
acr@wcqp.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that upon granting of the Plaintiffs’ Motion to Add Parties and
Amend, a true and correct copy of the foregoing Second Amended Complaint will be
served in accordance with the Rules of this Court to the reg istered agents of the
following:

Mid-Atlantic Regional Council of Carpenters
5701 Silver Hill Road
Forestville, Maryland 20747

Respectfully submitted via electronic filing to the following this 17th day of May,
2005:

Harvey A. Levin, Esq.
Birch, Horton, Bittner and Cherot
Jason H. Ehrenberg
1155 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Ste. 1200
Washington, D.C. 20036

Done this the 17th day of May, 2005.

                            /s/                                     
Eric K. Bachman 
Attorney for Plaintiff
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